Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 5/25/2022 by Florentino Jimenez, Deputy

S274743

No.

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

FRANCISCO BURGOS ET AL.,

Defendants and Appellants.

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H045212 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Nos. C1518795, C1756994 The Honorable Cynthia A. Sevely, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUES PRESENTED

- (1) Whether recently enacted Penal Code section 1109, which provides for bifurcated trials upon request when gang penalty allegations are made, is retroactive to nonfinal cases pursuant to *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740.
- (2) Whether any error was prejudicial in light of the instruction limiting the use of gang evidence.

INTRODUCTION

As of January 1, 2022, Penal Code section 1109 requires a bifurcated trial on gang penalty allegations if requested by the defense. In a published decision, the Court of Appeal held, over Justice Elia's dissent, that section 1109 applies retroactively to all nonfinal cases involving a gang penalty allegation. That conclusion sparked a conflict in the Courts of Appeal concerning

the retroactivity of Penal Code section 1109. Two weeks later the Second District reached the opposite conclusion in *People v. Perez* (2022) 78 Cal.App.5th 192, holding that section 1109 is not retroactive to trials that took place before its enactment. (*Id.* at p. 27.) Meanwhile, the Fifth District published *People v. Ramos* (2022) 77 Cal.App.5th 1116, which aligned with *Burgos* in concluding that section 1109 applies retroactively. (*Id.* at pp. 1129-1131.) Much is at stake over which view prevails given the impact of reversing and potentially retrying not only the gang penalty allegations but also the underlying felony offenses in a large number of cases.

Beyond resolving the disposition of what is likely many hundreds of nonfinal gang cases, *Burgos* highlights the need to clarify the rule of *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740. Unlike enactments that have historically fallen within *Estrada*'s rule, Penal Code section 1109 neither creates the possibility of less punishment nor alters substantive requirements of proof. Instead, it governs the conduct of future gang trials by substituting a bifurcated proceeding upon demand for reliance on limiting jury instructions as a prophylactic protection against juror bias that might lead to a wrongful conviction. While salutary, that is not an ameliorative change to the law within the meaning of *Estrada*.

Review should be granted to resolve the conflict among the Courts of Appeal and settle important questions of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The robberies and resulting trial

On August 29, 2015, appellants and a former codefendant approached two young men leaving a restaurant in San Jose late at night. (Opn. 3.) The group of aggressors asked the two victims "where they were from and whether they 'banged." (Opn. 3.) A man from appellants' group told the victims they were "Crip" gang members, while one showed a gun and told the victims to empty their pockets. (Opn. 4.) One of the victims protested that he could not comply because he had no arms, which was the case. (Opn. 3, 4.) Undeterred, appellants took both victims' cell phones and wallets, then told the victims to leave. (Opn. 4.)

Appellants were together at a nearby apartment complex on the night of the robbery, left together to go to a 7-Eleven near the robbery scene, were caught together on video inside the 7-Eleven around the time of the robbery, and were taken into custody as they sheltered together in an apartment along with property stolen during the robbery. (Opn. 3, 5, 6.) One victim identified appellants as the robbers, while one did not make positive identifications. (Opn. 5.)

In March 2016 the Santa Clara County District Attorney filed an information accusing appellants and two other men of committing the two robberies and alleged that those crimes were gang related within the meaning of Penal Code section 186.22, subdivision (b). (1CT 12-17.) One defendant pleaded guilty. (3CT 782-789; 5CT 1396-1401.) In March 2017, after a nonbifurcated trial, a jury convicted appellants of the robberies and found true the gang enhancement allegations. (7CT 1984,

1986, 1987, 1989, 1991, 1993, 1994, 1996, 1997, 1999, 2000, 2002.) Each received a 21-year prison sentence. (8CT 2307-2312.) The jury acquitted the remaining defendant. (7CT 2006.)

B. Court of Appeal majority opinion

The Court of Appeal reversed the judgements in a 2-1 decision. Among the more than 20 claims appellants collectively advanced on appeal was that Penal Code section 1109, which took effect nearly five years after the trial, should be given retroactive effect. (Opn. 1, 14; see Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 5.) Section 1109 provides that a trial involving a gang enhancement charged pursuant to Penal Code section 186.22, subdivisions (b) or (d), must be bifurcated upon request from trial on the underlying charged offense(s), and that a violation of subdivision (a) of section 186.22 "shall be tried separately from all other counts that do not otherwise require gang evidence as an element of the crime." (Pen. Code, § 1109, subds. (a), (b).) While the People conceded below that simultaneous amendments to the gang penalty statute itself—Penal Code section 186.22—were retroactive to nonfinal cases because they expand the evidentiary requirements for the government to prove gang enhancements, the People maintained that section 1109 operates prospectively under Penal Code section 3 because the former is a "prophylactic rule of criminal procedure' designed to enhance the fairness of

proceedings, not to ameliorative punishment as defined under Estrada." (Opn. 13, 14, 17.)¹

The Court of Appeal rejected the People's position and held that Penal Code section 1109 is an ameliorative change to the law that must be applied retroactively to nonfinal cases under *Estrada*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d 740. (Opn. 17-19.) The majority opined that defendants charged with gang enhancements under subdivisions (b) or (d) of Penal Code section 186.22 stood to benefit from section 1109 in two ways. First, some wrongful convictions—i.e., guilty verdicts based on less than proof beyond a reasonable doubt—that might otherwise occur could be avoided by eliminating "the prejudicial impact of gang evidence" when jurors consider the underlying offense. Second, defendants charged with a gang enhancement will feel less "pressure to accept longer sentences" as part of a plea bargain by knowing that their trials would not be "filled with prejudicial evidence." (Opn. 16, 18.)

The court further held that, because *part* of the session law that created Penal Code section 1109 (Stats. 2021, ch. 699; Assem. Bill No. 333 (2021-2022 Reg. Sess.)) was retroactive—namely, the amendments to Penal Code section 186.22—the Legislature must have intended that *all* of the session law's components operate retroactively because Legislature could have,

¹ Penal Code section 3 provides, "No part of [the Penal Code] is retroactive, unless expressly so declared."

but did not, add "an express savings clause carving out part of the bill as prospective-only." (Opn. 18.)

Finally, the Court of Appeal addressed prejudice by indicating that the absence of a bifurcated trial "likely constitute[d] 'structural error' because it 'def[ied] analysis by harmless-error standards." (Opn. 19, quoting *Arizona v. Fulminante* (1991) 499 U.S. 279, 280.) Nonetheless, under the assumption that prejudice must be assessed "under either the federal or state law standard," the court concluded that a unitary trial was prejudicial because "it is likely the jury relied on evidence of appellants' gang membership in considering the identity issues" raised at trial. (Opn. 20.) The court did not explain how or why, in its view, the jury misunderstood or failed to comply with a limiting jury instruction (CALCRIM No. 1403) that precluded consideration of gang activity for that purpose.

C. Court of Appeal dissent

Justice Elia dissented. He viewed Penal Code section 1109 as applying prospectively only given its function as a purely procedural change to the law with neither a direct nor indirect impact on punishment. (Dis. Opn. 5.) "While section 1109 clearly applies to a class of defendants, those facing gang enhancement allegations, and was intended to promote fairness and reduce the potential for prejudice, the same could be said for virtually any procedural change, and the bifurcation provisions themselves do not reduce punishment or create the possibility of reduced punishment." (Dis. Opn. 5.) Justice Elia criticized the majority's disregard for the statutory presumption that amendments to the

Penal Code have exclusively proactive application and its "unsupported" refusal to "separately analyze the retroactivity of each amendatory statute contained in a single legislative bill." (Dis. Opn. 6-7.) He opined that "[t]he majority opinion's attempt to expand the *Estrada* rule beyond its rationale would permit the exception to swallow the general rule of nonretroactivity." (Dis. Opn. 7.)²

D. Petition for rehearing

On April 25, 2022, defendant Richardson filed a petition for rehearing asking the Court of Appeal to expand upon its discussion of evidence Richardson used to substantiate his

² Justice Elia also addressed appellants' largely undeveloped claim that applying Penal Code section 1109 prospectively only would violate equal protection guarantees, a claim the majority did not address given its retroactivity holding. He noted that gang defendants tried before 2022 were not similarly situated to defendants whose post-2022 trials are governed by section 1109. (Dis. Opn. 8.) The "risks associated with unbifurcated trials" "were managed by a different mechanism, jury instructions, at defendants' trial, and defendants do not argue those instructions were inadequate." (Dis. Opn. 8.) In any event, he concluded, "the Legislature had an obvious rational basis for distinguishing between those who have already been tried and those who have not. The preservation of judicial resources alone justifies the differential treatment. Requiring retrial of the substantive offenses in every case in which there were gang allegations would be both disruptive and wasteful of judicial resources precisely at a time when those resources are in short supply." (Dis. Opn. 8.) Whether the equal protection claim is preserved, properly developed, and valid would be matters for the Court of Appeal to consider in the first instance if this Court reverses the Court of Appeal's judgment.

"mistaken identity" defense at trial and in related appellate claims. The Court of Appeal denied the petition for rehearing on April 27, 2022.

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

I. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO SETTLE A CONFLICT IN THE COURTS OF APPEAL OVER THE RETROACTIVITY OF PENAL CODE SECTION 1109

This Court should grant review because there is a direct conflict in the intermediate courts over the retroactivity of Penal Code section 1109 and the application of *Estrada* to a single session law that enacts, amends, or repeals multiple code sections.

The court's decision below that Penal Code section 1109 is retroactive is in accord with *People v. Ramos, supra*, 77 Cal.App.5th 1116, but those decisions conflict with *People v. Perez, supra*, 78 Cal.App.5th 192. The *Perez* court, consistent with the dissent below, correctly observed that Penal Code section 1109 "is a procedural statute that ensures a jury will not be prejudiced by the introduction of evidence to support gang enhancement allegations" and "does not reduce the punishment or narrow the scope of the application of the gang statute." (78 Cal.App.5th at p. 207.) Consequently, section 1109 "does not apply retroactively to a trial that has already occurred." (*Ibid.*)³

³ The conflict extends to unpublished decisions. (Compare *People v. Buchanan* (Mar. 16, 2022, B305671) 2022 Cal.App.Unpub. Lexis 1600, *90-*91 [not retroactive]) with *People v. Phenneger* (Apr. 28, 2022, F078550) 2022 Cal.App.Unpub. Lexis 2589, *61 [retroactive]).

This Court should resolve this conflict. The stakes are high because holdings that Penal Code section 1109 is retroactive could potentially require the retrial of the underlying offenses and charged gang enhancements in hundreds of nonfinal cases. As alluded to by Justice Elia's dissent, retrials of gang cases on the scale the decision below would require would consume substantial public resources and impede efficient administration of justice in the state's trial courts for, potentially, years to come. (Dis. Opn. 8.)

Implicit in the conflict over the retroactivity of Penal Code section 1109 is disagreement over how to conduct an *Estrada* retroactivity analysis, itself an important question of law given the frequency of statutory enactments that give rise to claims of retroactivity. This Court has applied the "Estrada presumption" to various statutory enactments and amendments that create the potential for a class of defendants to receive less severe punishment or more favorable or lenient treatment in the criminal justice system. (See generally People v. Esquivel (2021) 11 Cal.5th 671, 675-676.) The Court of Appeal's labelling Penal Code section 1109 ameliorative expansively redefines the otherwise "limited role *Estrada* properly plays in our jurisprudence of prospective versus retrospective operation." (People v. Brown (2012) 54 Cal.4th 314, 324.) The Court of Appeal's approach will render retroactive any new rule of criminal procedure designed to facilitate fair and accurate trials, an expansion of the *Estrada* rule beyond recognition that risks creating a cycle of appellate reversals and retrials.

Relatedly, the Court of Appeal majority engaged in a novel and inappropriate means of assessing *Estrada*'s application to different components of a multifaceted session law. Penal Code section 1109 was enacted as part of Assembly Bill No. 333, which also contained amendments to Penal Code section 186.22 that were ameliorative, as the People conceded below. (Opn. 13; see People v. Lopez (2021) 73 Cal.App.5th 327, 344.) Instead of subjecting section 1109 to a wholly independent retroactivity analysis, however, the *Burgos* majority bootstrapped its retroactivity analysis of section 1109 to its conclusion that substantive amendments to Penal Code section 186.22 in the same session law were retroactive: "[W]e reject the argument that different parts of Assembly Bill 333 should be treated differently under *Estrada*. The Legislature could have added an express savings clause carving out a section of the bill as prospective-only, but there is no such clause, and no indication of any such intent." (Opn. 18.) The Court of Appeal, however, cited no authority for the proposition that if one aspect of a bill—or more precisely, a session law—effects an ameliorative change, all aspects of the session law must be considered ameliorative. This Court has held otherwise. (Tapia v. Superior Court (1991) 53 Cal.3d 282, 297-302 [initiative].)

This Court should clarify how *Estrada* applies to a session law that enacts or amends multiple sections of the Penal Code.

II. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEAL UNSETTLED THE JURISPRUDENCE OF HARMLESS ERROR ANALYSIS AND ASSUMED THE JURY VIOLATED LIMITING INSTRUCTIONS

The Court of Appeal's discussion of harmless error was premised on rejecting well-established principles employed to assess prejudice where error has occurred.⁴ Namely, the court focused on the presence of the error rather than the probable result had it not occurred, and implicitly assumed that jurors in gang cases will disregard the trial court's limiting jury instructions. (Opn. 20-21.) It did so by concluding that "it is likely the jury relied on evidence of appellants' gang membership in considering [issues related to the perpetrators' identities]." (Opn. 20.)

⁴ The court did not decide whether the state or federal standard of harmless error would apply to a nonbifurcated trial involving gang enhancements, or indeed, whether harmless error analysis could occur at all. (Opn. 19-20.) The court characterized the failure to hold a bifurcated trial on gang enhancements as "likely . . . 'structural error' because it 'def[ies] analysis by harmless-error standards." (Opn. 19.) But the court proceeded to assess prejudice while acknowledging that it "not clear whether we should apply the federal or state law standard. (Compare People v. Watson (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836 [reasonable probability of a more favorable result absent the error with Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24 [error must be harmless beyond reasonable doubt].)" (Opn. 20.) More recently, in an unpublished decision the Sixth District disavowed its structural error discussion in *Burgos* and indicated that the *Watson* standard for state law error applied under the assumption that Penal Code section 1109 operates retroactively. (People v. Gonzalez (May 19, 2022, H046836) 2022 Cal.App.Unpub. Lexis 3119, *92-*94.)

A proper harmless error inquiry, however, turns on a probabilistic assessment of a different result *absent* the error. (Watson, supra, 46 Cal.2d 836 ["it is reasonably probable that a result more favorable to the appealing party would have been reached in the absence of the error"]; Neder v. United States (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 18 ["Is it clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error"].) Because of the limiting instructions, which precluded the use of the evidence in the manner assumed, it is apparent that the result would have been the same absent the assumed error in not bifurcating the trial.

As noted by the People in the Court of Appeal (Respondent's SB 21), the jury was instructed to "consider evidence of gang activity only for the limited purpose of deciding whether . . . [t]he defendant acted with the intent, purpose, and knowledge that are required to prove the gang-related enhancement allegations or [t]he defendant had a motive to commit the crimes charged" (7CT 1926 [CALCRIM No. 1403]). The instruction also permitted consideration of gang evidence to evaluate eyewitness credibility and as a basis for the expert's opinions. (7CT 1926.) It expressly prohibited "consider[ing] this evidence for any other purpose," including "conclud[ing] from this evidence that the defendant is a person of bad character or that he has a disposition to commit crime." (7CT 1926.) Crucially, therefore, jurors were precluded from considering the gang evidence on questions of identity—the very use the Court of Appeal assumed occurred.

In addition, CALCRIM No. 200 directed jurors to guard against "bias . . . against the . . . defendants . . . based on . . . race . . . or socioeconomic status." (7CT 1866.) CALCRIM No. 224 prohibited convictions unless the People proved "each fact essential to that conclusion beyond a reasonable doubt." (7RT 1875.) Another instruction limited the jury's consideration of prior conviction evidence to "the gang allegation." (7CT 1886.) "You may not consider this evidence as proof that the defendants engaged in the robbery alleged to have occurred on August 29th, 2015," it cautioned. (7CT 1886.) Finally, CALCRIM No. 1401 required the jury to decide the truth of the gang enhancement only after returning guilty verdicts on one or both of the robbery counts. (7CT 1918.) The latter instruction also emphasized that the gang enhancement would be the subject of a "separate finding for each crime." (7CT 1918.)

This multitude of instructions negated any risk that the jury would improperly consider gang evidence on questions of identity, or for other improper reasons because "[t]he crucial assumption underlying our constitutional system of trial by jury is that jurors generally understand and faithfully follow instructions." (*People v. Homick* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 816, 867.) Yet the *Burgos* majority presumed misuse of evidence and violation of the trial court's instructions instead as a basis for its finding of prejudice. That conclusion, resting on rejection of a basic principle of law, was foundational error.

The limiting instructions protected against using the gang evidence for identity. The effect of the instructions was as if the gang evidence subject to the limiting instructions had never been admitted. Equally, absent the error, i.e., at a bifurcated trial, the jury would be unable to consider the gang evidence that could not otherwise be admitted at the guilt phase. The actual jury and the hypothetical jury would, therefore, have been in the same evidentiary position when assessing evidence of identity. Thus, there is neither a reasonable probability (*Watson*) or a reasonable possibility (*Chapman*) that absent the error, appellants would have obtained a more favorable result.

CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be granted.