IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

 $\mathbf{v}.$

FRANCISCO BURGOS et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

Case No. S274743

Court of Appeal No. H045212

(Santa Clara County Superior Court No. C1518795)

APPELLANT JAMES RICHARDSON'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

On Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Santa Clara Honorable Cynthia Sevely, Judge Presiding

SOLOMON WOLLACK (State Bar No. 170003)

Attorney at Law P.O. Box 23933

Pleasant Hill, CA 94523 Telephone: (925) 671-2501 E-mail: sol@wollack.com

Attorney for Appellant James Richardson

STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL ISSUES

I. In evaluating the sufficiency of the evidence for a conviction resting largely on a single eyewitness identification, does the substantial evidence test permit the appellate court to weigh the identification's probative value, and the evidence as a whole, in order to determine if a reasonable jury could have convicted?

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The Court of Appeal accurately summarized this case's procedural background. (Decision (I)(A), pp. 2-3.) The Court of Appeal's factual summary was accurate but incomplete, as it omitted key facts relevant to Richardson's mistaken identification defense. (Decision, section (I)(B), pp. 3-6.) The premise behind this defense was that the victim who identified Richardson as a participant mistook him for the real culprit – a similar looking man named Keison Hames. (See, e.g., 47 RT 13849-13850, 13852-13853, 13860-13867, 13871, 13879.) Richardson will set forth the facts relevant to his defense in Argument (II) of this answer.

ARGUMENT

I.

This Court should deny review on the issue of Penal Code section 1109's retroactivity.

A. Summary of argument

Rule 8.500(b)(1) allows this Court to grant review "[w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." Citing these principles, respondent seeks review so this Court may address whether the retroactivity principles of *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740, apply to the new gang bifurcation rule set forth in Penal Code section 1109. The Court of Appeal in this case was the first to address this question

– finding the new statute retroactive. (Decision, pp. 14-19.) Since then, three other published cases have weighed in on the issue, with differing results. (*People v. Ramos* (Apr. 27, 2022) 77 Cal.App.5th 1116, 1128 [finding section 1109 retroactive]; *People v. Perez* (May 2, 2022) 78 Cal.App.5th 192, 207 [finding section 1109 prospective-only]; *People v. Ramirez* (H047847, May 25, 2022) 2022 Cal.App.LEXIS 456, at *27-28 [prospective-only].)

Respondent asks this Court to resolve the conflict present in the early case law. They contend that the decision in this case expanded *Estrada* beyond its intended scope and could require new trials in "hundreds" of gang cases currently on appeal. (Petition for Review ["PFR"], p. 14.) This Court should deny review.

Far from expanding *Estrada*, the Court of Appeal merely applied its principles as interpreted in cases like *People v*. *Superior Court (Lara)* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 299, 303, and *People v*. *Frahs* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 618, 631. While the issue of section 1109's retroactivity has produced disagreement among the Courts of Appeal, the actual impact of that disagreement has been modest. At the time of this submission, Richardson knows of no other case – published or unpublished – which found reversible error under section 1109. The passage of time will only diminish the number of pre-2022 gang cases still pending on appeal – further reducing the import of the retroactivity issue.

The present case will not be the last time this Court sees a petition for review on the issue of section 1109's retroactivity. Unlike this case, some of those future petitions will likely raise additional important questions about how to interpret and apply section 1109. Should this Court wish to resolve the issue of section 1109's retroactivity, it should wait to do so in a case which allows it to more comprehensively address the many potential

questions presented by the new law. As this is not that case, review should be denied.

B. Even if section 1109 is found retroactive, the impact will be limited.

Like many issues presented in petitions for review, the issue of section 1109's retroactivity is not inconsequential. If the statute is found retroactive, it will undoubtedly require retrial of some cases tried before the new law took effect. At the same time, even if the statute were found fully retroactive, the actual real-world impact would likely be quite limited. For one thing, the only cases affected would be gang cases tried before January 1, 2022, but still pending on appeal at that time. That is a relatively narrow category of cases to begin with – made even more narrow by the sharp drop in jury trials during the pandemic. With the passage of time, the number of cases affected will only continue to shrink, as fewer and fewer cases tried before 2022 will reach the Court of Appeal.

Respondent asserts that "hundreds of nonfinal gang cases" may require retrial if section 1109 applies retroactively. (PFR, p. 14.) Yet, they cite no authority to support this number. In point of fact, the early case law on section 1109's retroactivity casts doubt on respondent's estimate – and suggests that the issue is nowhere near as far-reaching as respondent believes it to be.

In the six months since section 1109 took effect, Richardson's case is one of four published appellate decisions which have directly addressed the statute's retroactivity. Another published case – *People v. E.H.* (Feb. 22, 2022) 75 Cal.App.5th 467, 480 – assumed, without deciding, that the new statute was retroactive. Richardson has additionally found eight unpublished decisions in which the issue of retroactivity was raised and discussed. Of these 13 cases, Richardson's was the only one in which the appellate court found prejudicial error from a failure to bifurcate gang allegations. (Decision, pp. 20-21.)

Of the 13 total cases, two published and three unpublished decisions held that section 1109 has prospective-only operation. (People v. Perez, supra, 78 Cal.App.5th at p. 207; People v. Ramirez (H047847) 2022 Cal.App.LEXIS 456, at *27-28; People v. Buchanan (B305671, Mar. 16, 2022) 2022 Cal.App. Unpub. Lexis 1600, at *90-91; People v. Wash (C070732, May 26, 2022) 2022 Cal.App.Unpub.LEXIS 3296, at *77; People v. Gray (B282321, Jun. 1, 2022) 2022 Cal.App.Unpub.LEXIS 3396, at *17-18.) Seven of the remaining eight found no reasonable probability of prejudice from the failure to bifurcate. One case did so after finding the statute retroactive. (People v. Ramos, supra, 77 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1131-1132.) The other six deemed it unnecessary to reach that question since any error was harmless. (People v. Castaneda (B307392, B310635, May 2, 2022) 2022 Cal.App.Unpub.LEXIS 2684, at *30, fn. 20; People v. Harper (A153332, May 4, 2022) 2022 Cal.App.Unpub.LEXIS 2728, at *43-47; People v. Spicer (B308931, May 13, 2022) 2022 Cal.App.Unpub.LEXIS 2949, at *46-47; People v. Gonzalez (H046836, May 19, 2022) 2022 Cal.App. Unpub. Lexis 3119, at *92-94; People v. Pimentel (E071786, May 31, 2022) 2022 Cal.App.Unpub.LEXIS 3360, *85-86.)

The results of the foregoing cases suggest that the finding of prejudicial error in this case was very much an outlier. In the vast majority of cases, harmless error principles will obviate the need for a retrial even if section 1109 applies retroactively. That so few cases have resulted in findings of prejudicial error weighs strongly against respondent's contention that the retroactivity issue is a matter of statewide importance. To be sure, the issue is of considerable importance to the parties in this case. But that does not make the issue suitable for a grant of review.

C. This case presents no novel issues of law.

Respondent characterizes the Court of Appeal's analysis as "a novel and inappropriate means of assessing *Estrada*'s application to different components of a multifaceted session law." (PFR, p. 15.) In particular, respondent argues that the court inappropriately "bootstrapped" its analysis of section 1109's retroactivity to the issue of whether the recent revisions to Penal Code section 186.22 were retroactive. (PFR, p. 15.) The Court of Appeal found that the latter's conceded retroactivity suggested a legislative intent for the entire bill to be retroactive. (Decision, pp. 18-19.)

There is nothing terribly novel about looking to one part of a bill to determine if another part of that same bill is retroactive. This Court applied a similar approach in *People v. Buycks* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 857, 881 – finding Penal Code section 1170.18, subdivision (k) retroactive, in part, because other subdivisions of the same statute were retroactive. This Court's point was not that all parts of the same statute or bill require identical treatment for retroactivity purposes. Its point was that the retroactivity of other subdivisions informed the analysis of subdivision (k)'s retroactivity. It did so by showing that the subdivision at issue was "rooted in an overall scheme that is undeniably intended to have a retroactive effect." (*Buycks*, at p. 881.)

Likewise, there was nothing novel about the Court of Appeal's application of the *Estrada* rule to section 1109. *Estrada* applies when the Legislature enacts a new law to reduce punishment or provide an "ameliorating benefit[]" to which the defendant was not previously entitled. (*In re Estrada, supra*, 63 Cal.2d at pp. 744-745.) This Court has extended the rule to apply to changes in procedural rules which nonetheless "reduce[] the possible punishment for a class of persons." (*People v. Superior*

Court (Lara) (2018) 4 Cal.5th 299, 303; see also People v. Frahs (2020) 9 Cal.5th 618, 631.)

The *Estrada* presumption reflects simple common sense. When the Legislature changes the law to create a new "ameliorating benefit[]," it reflects a policy finding that the old law was unfair or excessively harsh. (*In re Estrada*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d at pp. 744-745.) Having enacted a new law in order to right a wrong, it stands to reason that the Legislature would want that new law to "apply to every case to which it constitutionally could apply" – unless, of course, it specifically says otherwise. (*Id.* at p. 745.)

The Legislature enacted section 1109 to prevent wrongful convictions – specifically, those which would not have occurred in a trial without gang evidence. (Assem. Bill No. 333 ("AB 333"), § 2, subd. (e).) The Assembly Committee on Public Safety put actual statistics to this phenomenon – citing one study which found the mere mention of an accused's association with gang members increases his chance of conviction from 44 to 60 percent. (AB 333, Assem. Comm. on Pub. Safety (Apr. 6, 2021), p. 9.) If the defendant is, himself, identified as a gang member, the chance of conviction increases even further – to 63 percent. (*Ibid.*)

Moreover, the legislative findings make clear that these wrongful convictions in gang cases disproportionately impact defendants of color. (AB 333, § 2, subd. (d)(1), (d)(2), & (d)(4).) In at least some of these cases, the decision to charge a gang enhancement arose out of racially discriminatory assumptions based on the defendant's friends and family members or the neighborhood in which he lives. (See AB 333, § 2, subd. (a), (d)(7), (d)(8), & (d)(9).) It defies credulity to believe that the same Legislature which enacted a law to prevent wrongful convictions and racially discriminatory prosecutions would not want that new law to apply as broadly as constitutionally possible. Hence, the

policies behind *Estrada* apply to section 1109 in the same way they would apply to a statute directly reducing punishment.

D. Although early cases have reached different conclusions about section 1109's retroactivity, the issue should be allowed to continue developing in the appellate courts.

While Richardson believes the Court of Appeal correctly applied *Estrada*, two published cases have held otherwise. (*People v. Perez, supra*, 78 Cal.App.5th at p. 207; *People v. Ramirez, supra*, 2022 Cal.App.LEXIS 456, at *27-28.) If this Court finds it necessary to resolve this split in authority, it should do so in a case which allows it to reach other important questions posed by the newly enacted section 1109. This is not that case.

"Wise adjudication has its own time for ripening." (See Maryland v. Baltimore Radio Show (1950) 338 U.S. 912, 918 [statement respecting denial of certiorari by Frankfurter, J.].) Even when a case presents important legal questions, it may nonetheless "be desirable to have different aspects of [the] issue further illumined by the lower courts." (Ibid.) As the late Supreme Court Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg observed, "[W]hen frontier legal problems are presented, periods of 'percolation' in, and diverse opinions from, state and federal appellate courts may yield a better informed and more enduring final pronouncement by this Court." (Arizona v. Evans (1995) 514 U.S. 1, 23, fn. 1 [dis. opn. of Ginsburg, J.].)

The newly enacted section 1109 raises multiple important questions, of which retroactivity is just one. One such question is whether – and to what extent – section 1109 limits the admissibility of gang evidence to prove motive and intent. (See *People v. Ramos, supra*, 77 Cal.App.5th at p. 1132.) This case makes a poor vehicle for assessing these questions, since any gang-related motive for the robberies was peripheral and seemingly possessed solely by the gunman – the only one in the

group who asked the victims about their gang membership or alluded to his own Crip gang membership. (21 RT 6043-6045; see *People v. Cox* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 618, 660 [gang evidence should be excluded when it is "only tangentially relevant"].)

In addition, section 1109 prescribes different rules for trials on gang enhancements and trials on substantive charges. Subdivision (a) sets forth an absolute bifurcation rule as to the former. For the latter, subdivision (b) requires bifurcation as to "all other counts that do not otherwise require gang evidence as an element of the crime." Such language is open to two possible interpretations. One possibility would make bifurcation unnecessary only in the rare situation in which a charged crime includes gang participation as an essential element. The other possibility would make bifurcation unnecessary whenever gang evidence is **relevant** to prove an element of some other crime. Under the latter interpretation, the presence of a substantive gang crime could largely nullify section 1109's bifurcation requirements. This ambiguity in the statute may well require guidance from this Court. But that guidance cannot come in this case, as it included no substantive gang crimes.

Also unclear is whether section 1109's bifurcation requirement extends to the trial on a gang-related special circumstance allegation (Pen. Code, § 190.2, subd. (a)(22)) – a point on which section 1109 is silent. In addition, if section 1109 is indeed retroactive, questions arise about application of the forfeiture doctrine if defense counsel failed to request bifurcation in a case tried before January 1, 2022. In this case, there were no special circumstance allegations and the defendants did move for bifurcation. (2 CT 307–311; 9 RT 2458-2460; 12RT 3455.)

If this Court is inclined to grant review on the issue of section 1109's retroactivity, it should await a case which allows it to reach at least some of these other important questions which the newly enacted statute presents. As this case does not, review should be denied.

E. The Court of Appeal's prejudice analysis was based on case-specific factors and constitutes neither an unsettled area of law nor an issue of statewide importance.

After finding section 1109 retroactive, the Court of Appeal commented that the error "likely constitutes 'structural error," requiring per se reversal. (Decision, p. 19.) However, the court then went on to find the error prejudicial even under harmless error standards. (Decision, p. 20.)

Notably, respondent does not ask this Court to grant review to address the Court of Appeal's comments about structural error. The omission is surely no accident, for the court's comments were dicta, given its subsequent finding that the error required reversal even under harmless error analysis.

Should this Court grant review, Richardson reserves the right to argue that the failure to bifurcate constituted structural error. But, for the time being, it is not a proposition which has caught on in the appellate courts. Indeed, not a single case — published or unpublished — has endorsed the Court of Appeal's comments that a failure to bifurcate "likely constitutes 'structural error." (Decision, p. 19.) Even Justice Grover, who joined the majority opinion in Richardson's case, has since backed away from its comments about structural error. In a recent unpublished decision in *People v. Gonzalez* (H046836, May 19, 2022) 2022 Cal.App.Unpub.Lexis 3119, at *93-94, Justice Grover joined the majority in finding harmless error analysis applicable. Given the emerging uniformity on this issue, there is no need to grant review on it.

Respondent devotes an entire section of their petition to the argument that review is appropriate because, in their view, the Court of Appeal's prejudice analysis was both erroneous and

perfunctory. (PFR, Argument (II), pp. 16-19.) While Richardson disagrees, a detailed discussion of the issue is not necessary.

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